

UK Brain Archive and Information Network (BRAIN UK)

PROTOCOL

Version 1.71

SOP Reference BUK PROTOCOL

Version number 1.71

Date created 15 April 2015

Date of last review 15 April 2015

Date of next review 15 April 2017

Author:

Name Dr Clare Mitchell

Signature

Authorised by:

Name Prof. James A R Nicoll

Signature

THIS PAGE IS BLANK

Ref: 14/SC/0098 UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71 Date: 15 April 2015

Table of Contents

1. Title	5
2. Glossary of Terms	5
3. Principal Investigator	5
4. Researchers/Data Co-ordinators	6
5. Tissue Storage Centres	6
6. Funding	6
7. Sponsor	7
8. Background	7
9. Aims and Objectives	9
10. Patient Eligibility 10.1 Inclusion criteria 10.2 Exclusion criteria	10 10
11. Consent, Privacy and Confidentiality 11.1 Consent 11.1.1 Consent for Hospital Post Mortem Examinations 11.1.2 Coroner's (or Procurator Fiscal's) Post Mortem Examinations 11.1.3 Consent from Children 11.1.4 Adults With Lack of Capacity to Consent 11.2 Human Tissue Authority Licensing 11.3 Consent for the Use of Patient Data 11.4 Section 251 National Health Service Act 2006	10 11 11 12 12 12 13 13
12. Methods 12.1 Database Development, Management and Responsibilities 12.2 Data Collection	13
12.2.1 Sources of data 12.2.2 Frequency of data extraction 12.2.3 Types of data 12.2.4 Linked anonymised (pseudonymised) data	14 14 14 14
12.3 Data Anonymisation 12.4 Data Transfer 12.5 Data Storage	15 15 16
12.6 Data Security 12.6.1 Password protection 12.6.2 Electronic file back-up 12.6.3 Encryption 12.6.4 Data Protection Act 1998 12.7 Research Uses of Database 12.8 Applications From External Researchers 12.9 Ethical Approval 12.10 Submission of Research Data 12.11 Offer to Disclose Clinically Significant Data	16 16 16 17 17 17 18 18
13. Statistical Analysis	19
14. Ethical and Legal Considerations	19
15. References	22

Continued overleaf

16. Appendices	20
Appendix A	26
Appendix B	33
Appendix C	33
Appendix D	33
Appendix E	33
Appendix F	33
Appendix G	34
Appendix H	35
Appendix I	36
Appendix J	37
Appendix K	37
Appendix L	37
Appendix M	37

1. Title

United Kingdom Brain Archive and Information Network (BRAIN UK)

2. Glossary of Terms

Throughout this Protocol and associated documentation the three component arms of *BRAIN UK* will be referred to as distinct entities. This is in order to clarify the differing ways these are treated in law particularly within the Human Tissue Act 2004 and Human Tissue Act (Scotland) 2006:

BRAIN UK 1: Refers to post mortem tissues archived before 1st September 2006 which are defined as part of an 'Existing Holding' under the Human Tissue Act 2004. In law, there is no mandatory requirement for informed consent for the use of this tissue for research purposes as long as such tissue is supplied in an anonymised format and that any research is subject to approval by a UK Research Ethics Committee.

This arm of *BRAIN UK* was granted Ethical Approval by Southampton and South West Hampshire B Research Ethics Committee on 7 May 2009 (**REC Ref: 09/H0504/68**).

BRAIN UK 2: Refers to post mortem tissues archived on or after 1st September 2006. In law, there is a mandatory requirement for informed consent for the use of this tissue for research purposes.

This arm of *BRAIN UK* was granted Ethical Approval by South Central – Southampton B Research Ethics Committee on 11 October 2011 (**REC Ref: 11/SC/0395**).

BRAIN UK 3: Refers to all residual tissue archived as the result of consented surgery on living patients. In law, there is no mandatory requirement for informed consent for the use of this tissue for research purposes as long as such tissue is supplied in an anonymised format and that any research is subject to approval by a UK Research Ethics Committee.

3. Chief Investigators

Professor James Nicoll

Professor of Neuropathology, University of Southampton Honorary Consultant in Neuropathology, University Hospitals Southampton NHS Foundation Trust

Tel: 023 8079 5720

Mailpoint 813 University of Southampton South Academic Block Southampton General Hospital Tremona Road Southampton

SO16 6YD e-mail: J.Nicoll@soton.ac.uk

Dr David Hilton

Consultant in Neuropathology, Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust

Derriford Hospital Derriford Road Crownhill

Plymouth Tel: 01752 431360

PL6 8DH e-mail: <u>davidhilton.nhs.net</u>

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

4. Researchers/Data Co-ordinators

Dr Clare Mitchell

Clinical Neurosciences, Clinical and Experimental Sciences Faculty of Medicine University of Southampton Mailpoint 806 South Academic Block Southampton General Hospital Tremona Road

Southampton Tel: 023 8120 5240

SO16 6YD e-mail: <u>brainuk@soton.ac.uk</u>

5. Tissue Storage Centres

A list of all participating centres and relevant contact details are provided in *Appendix A: Tissue Storage Centre Contacts*.

6. Funding

Medical Research Council 20 Park Crescent London W1B 1AL

This funding relates to the post mortem arms of BRAIN UK (i.e. BRAIN UK 1 and BRAIN UK 2).

Reference: G1100578

brainstrust
4 Yvery Court
Castle Road
Cowes

Isle of Wight Tel: 01983 292405

PO31 7QG e-mail: hg@brainstrust.org.uk

Registered Charity Number 1114634

This funding relates to the surgical arm of BRAIN UK (i.e. BRAIN UK 3).

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

7. Sponsorship and Indemnity

University of Southampton

c/o Research Governance Office George Thomas Building 37 Room 4055 University of Southampton Highfield Southampton SO17 1BJ

Contact:

Lindy Dalen

Tel: 02380 595058

e-mail: rgoinfo@soton.ac.uk

8. Background

Neurological and psychiatric diseases represent an increasing social and economic burden for developed nations such as the United Kingdom^[1]. The progress towards effective therapy is being met with increasing frustration at the lack of translational success from animal and cell line models of neurological disease to the human disease itself^[2]. This has highlighted the need to study human brain tissue, derived from biopsies or from post mortem examinations, affected by the relevant disease processes. A limited number of specific neurological disorders, particularly chronic disorders such as Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease and Multiple Sclerosis are well-catered for by high quality prospective brain banking facilities. However, many common and increasingly medically and economically important disorders in terms of mortality and morbidity, such as stroke, and most rare neurological disorders are not provided for in this way. There exists an opportunity to benefit from the extensive archival collections of human brain tissue held by neuropathology services around the UK and to exploit such holdings for high quality research to gain a better understanding of the aetiology and progression of a range of neurological diseases and disorders and to potentially allow therapeutic intervention strategies to be identified and developed. This research could, in the future, conceivably increase an individual's chances of survival, provide a better quality of care, contribute towards determining the evolving health needs of an ageing population and contribute towards the improvement of public health in the UK and beyond through improved therapeutic and medical practice.

Neuropathology (defined as the identification, characterisation and diagnosis of neurological disease based on the analysis of tissue) has existed as a distinct speciality in the United Kingdom for several decades. Neuropathology services are located in approximately 30 NHS Neuroscience centres, each with a catchment population of 1 to 3 million people. After the macroscopic and histological analysis of human tissue derived from a post mortem examination or surgical biopsy has been completed it is archived with appropriate consent according to guidelines published by the Royal College of Pathologists^[3]. This archive of pathologically verified residual tissue represents a potentially valuable resource for research purposes especially as it can be readily linked to relevant clinical data. *BRAIN UK 1* has previously undertaken a systematic attempt to organise and utilise this national resource for research purposes by facilitating access to post mortem archives held prior to the enactment of the Human Tissue Act 2004 (as applied to England, Wales and Northern Ireland), and the equivalent Human Tissue (Scotland) Act 2006. Tissues archived prior to enactment of this legislation (*i.e.* before 1st September 2006) are defined as 'Existing Holdings' which can be used, without explicit consent, for the purposes of ethically approved research provided that

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

any material is anonymised to researchers^[4]. In addition *BRAIN UK 2* has now also augmented *BRAIN UK 1* by making available all post mortem archives collected after enactment of the above legislation (i.e. on or after $1^{\rm st}$ September 2006). These may be used for ethically approved research where informed consent (or 'Authorisation' in Scotland) can be demonstrated for this purpose. There is therefore a large amount of archived post mortem tissue now available to the research community that is of great potential value in increasing our understanding of neurological disease.

It is the purpose of this protocol and the supporting documentation to augment the use of these post mortem archives by making all residual tissues derived from living patients as part of a consented surgical procedure available for research purposes *i.e.* to extend *BRAIN UK* to incorporate a 'surgical' arm (*BRAIN UK 3*). The removal, storage, use and disposal of such tissues are currently regulated by the Human Tissue Authority which was established by the relevant legislation described above although such regulatory authority is likely to change in the future due to governmental reorganisation of this and associated bodies^[5]. Like the use of post mortem-derived 'Existing Holdings' (which do not require consent for research purposes provided that such research is approved by a registered UK Research Ethics Committee and that tissues released to researchers are in an anonymised format) the Human Tissue Act 2004 (and the equivalent in Scottish Law) makes tissue derived from surgical procedures on the living available for research subject to the satisfaction of the same caveats.

For our previous application relating to the use of 'Existing Holdings' for research purposes we undertook a limited pilot survey of five regional neuropathology services (Southampton, Plymouth, Oxford, Bristol and the Corsellis Collection) representing approximately 20% of the UK population. These preliminary data revealed 28,000 cases as being potentially available which extrapolated linearly to approximately 150,000 cases throughout the UK. Additional approaches have indicated that an additional 4,500 cases per annum are available UK-wide on a prospective basis. In its current state, as of the date of this Protocol, BRAIN UK 1 and BRAIN UK 2 encompass approximately 67,000 cases with an additional 4,500 cases anticipated to be added on an annual basis (see Appendix G for a summary of this data). These post mortem collections consist predominantly of formalin-fixed paraffin embedded tissue which is ideal for the study of disease phenotypes in terms of morphological and protein expression analyses. Although arguably less powerful than the use of fresh tissue, this type of resource is also, through continuing technical advances, becoming increasingly amenable to the extraction of nuclear and mitochondrial DNA and RNA for the study of the genetic influences on disease as well as the identification of infectious agents (e.g. viruses, bacteria and fungi) and the concomitant genetic study of such organisms.

One major benefit of these post mortem collections is that they comprehensively cover the spectrum of neurological disorders, contain large numbers of common disorders, and provide useful numbers of rare disorders and non-diseased tissues suitable for control studies. These collections are of great value and the importance of the collection continuing to grow in order to ensure that current patterns of disease are accurately reflected in the archive has now been realised. In many cases when autopsy brain tissue is subjected to neuropathological examination, whether from Coronial or Hospital autopsies, consent is given from the relatives for subsequent research use. This continuing collection will usefully supplement the existing holdings maintaining numbers of rare conditions and allowing the correlation of pathology to be made with current investigations^[6,7] (e.g. anti-voltage gated potassium channel encephalitis, aquaporin-associated demyelination) and for the effects of current treatment modalities to be studied. The ongoing collection will also have the advantage of having been diagnosed using the latest classification and investigatory techniques^[8] (e.g. FUS and TDP-43 related diseases).

In addition to the collection and characterisation of post mortem archives *BRAIN UK* is now in receipt of funding to further extend to include all residual tissue specimens archived as a consequence of surgery upon living patients, A directed Pilot Study of 29 NHS Neuropathology centres indicated approximately 450,000 archived cases with an additional 17,500 cases per annum available on a prospective basis (see *Appendix H* for a summary of this data). This particular collection (i.e. *BRAIN UK 3*) will potentially provide a greater depth and quality of neurological tissue for research applications and in particular will be of greatest benefit to investigations relating to tumours of the central nervous system and adnexa.

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

This proposal to create a comprehensive national database of neuropathology tissue archives throughout the UK has the full support of the British Neuropathological Society (BNS) and now the brain cancer charity 'brainstrust'. The importance of such an initiative has been reiterated by bodies such as the Medical Research Council (through the creation of the UK Brain Banks Network of which $BRAIN\ UK$ is a member^[9]) and the UK Clinical Research Collaboration which have identified a continuing need for the study of human brain tissue to further understand the basis and progression of neurological disease^[10].

9. Aims and Objectives

The current initiative aims to establish an overarching model to the UK Brain Archive and Information Network ($BRAIN\ UK$) in order to include all tissue specimens (both post mortem and surgically derived) archived both retrospectively and prospectively to maximise the potential to be gained from this valuable tissue resource for research into neurological diseases. The availability of high quality, well-characterised human brain tissue should form an essential and integral part of any systematic translational health research strategy for the UK. In contrast to established conventional brain banking facilities $BRAIN\ UK$ acts as a 'virtual brain bank' with the tissue samples being retained in the departments of origin. This approach has been successfully used by the Confederation of Cancer Biobanks^[11] and the Cancer Research UK Bio-Specimen Biorepository^[12] and has a number of advantages over conventional brain banking facilities:

- A national archive with 'joint' ownership by all participating centres,
- Tissues from individuals are stored in the department of origin and are therefore readily available for diagnostic review if required,
- Not limited to diseases that can attract sufficient funding for dedicated brain banks,
- No major capital requirements and relatively low maintenance costs as existing facilities are utilised,
- Participating centres maintain full custodianship of tissue samples.

A linked anonymised electronic database has been created which currently is searchable by *BRAIN UK* staff on request by potential research applicants. The ultimate aim is to make it available, in a fully anonymised format, to the research community via the website of the British Neuropathological Society and through our own website (http://www.brain-uk.org/). The database, hosted by the University of Southampton, includes details of disease categories, together with the number of cases available, the tissue formats available and limited demographic data (sex and age at death). Access to archived tissue is negotiated directly between the initiators of a research study and the local custodians of that tissue, once the relevant study has been approved by *BRAIN UK*.

It is a primary aim of *BRAIN UK* to attempt to gain generic Ethical Approval for all research utilising tissue archived by participating centres. *BRAIN UK* has previously received favourable opinions relating to post mortem archives (References: 09/H0504/68 and 11/SC/0395) and 'generic Ethical Approval' from the Southampton and South West Hampshire Research Ethics Committee B and its successor body the South Central – Southampton B Research Ethics Committee for researchers through the *BRAIN UK* application process but, should this not be forthcoming on this occasion, Ethical Approval should be obtained by the researcher in question as a prerequisite for access. It is intended that the technical and administrative costs incurred by the retrieval, processing and transportation of tissues will be met by the researcher's grant funding.

Letters of invitation to participate in this initiative have been sent to neuropathology centres and, at the time or writing, support has been received from 25 out of a total of 30 approached.

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

10. Patient Eligibility

10.1 Inclusion Criteria

BRAIN UK 1: All patients who have had tissues removed and archived by a Neuropathology service prior to 1st September 2006 as part of a post mortem examination (either Coronal/Fiscal Procurator or hospital/consented) in the UK (*i.e.* as part of an 'existing holding').

BRAIN UK 2: All patients who have had tissues removed and archived by a Neuropathology service on or after 1st September 2006 as part of a post mortem examination (either Coronal/Fiscal Procurator or consented hospital examination) in the UK and who have given informed consent during life or for which informed consent has been given by their nominated representative or an individual in a qualifying relationship after death for the retention and use of their tissues for research purposes.

BRAIN UK 3: All patients who have had tissues or other samples (e.g. cerebrospinal fluid) removed either during surgery or in the course of a diagnostic procedure in the UK and whose samples have been archived by a Neuropathology service.

10.2 Exclusion Criteria

BRAIN UK 1: All patients who have had tissues removed and archived as part of a post mortem examination (either Coronal/Fiscal Procurator or hospital) in the UK where there is known evidence that consent has been refused (either by the patient during life or by a qualifying relative after death) for access to or disclosure from patient data or for the use of tissue for research purposes.

BRAIN UK 2: All patients who have had tissues removed and archived on or after 1st September 2006 as part of a post mortem examination (either Coronal/Fiscal Procurator or consented hospital examination) in the UK where consent has been refused (either by the patient during life or by their nominated representative or an individual in a qualifying relationship after death) or no recorded evidence of consent exists for the use of their tissues for research purposes.

BRAIN UK 3: All patients who have had tissues removed either during surgery or in the course of a diagnostic procedure where there is known evidence that consent has been refused for access to or disclosure from patient data or for the use of tissue for research purposes.

11. Consent, Privacy and Confidentiality

N.B. BRAIN UK does not itself seek consent. However, that consent for research use has already been obtained is a pre-requisite for inclusion of cases in BRAIN UK 2. Consequently, issues relating to consent are discussed in more detail within this section and within SOP 2: Data Confidentiality Policy (see Appendix C).

11.1 Consent for the Use of Human Tissue for Research[13]

The Human Tissue Act 2004 and The Human Tissue (Scotland) Act 2006 place the fundamental principle of 'Informed Consent' ('Authorisation' in Scotland) as a mandatory requirement for the removal, storage and use of human tissues from the deceased for a 'Scheduled Purpose' for which 'research in connection with disorders, or the functioning, of the human body' is one. Therefore, in order for post mortem human tissues archived on or after 1st September 2006 to be utilised for research purposes evidence must be available that such 'Informed Consent' (or 'Authorisation') has been obtained and is valid.

'Informed Consent' (or 'Authorisation') may be obtained from adults in life or from their nominated representatives or an individual in a qualifying relationship after death. Informed Consent from children defined as an individual under 18 years of age (or aged under 16 years of age in Scotland) may be given if such an individual is considered competent to do so ('Gillick

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

competency'). Evidence of Informed Consent should ideally be given in a written format and should be clearly documented as part of the individual's medical record.

Participating centres have protocols and procedures in place to obtain and record Informed Consent as part of their compliance with the Human Tissue Act 2004 (and the Scottish equivalent), Human Tissue Authority Codes of Practice and Human Tissue Authority Licensing obligations.

However, the legal position differs relating to residual tissue archived after a diagnostic or therapeutic procedure (e.g. surgery) on a living individual. In this case, consent for storage or use of the tissue for research is not a legal requirement, provided that the 'researcher is not in possession, and not likely to come into possession of information that identifies the person from whom it has come' (i.e. tissue and concomitant clinical information is provided in an anonymised format) and that 'the material is used for a specific <u>research</u> project with ethical approval'.

In summary, the composite arms of *BRAIN UK* deal with the issue of informed consent in the following manner:

BRAIN UK 1 and BRAIN UK 3: There is no mandatory requirement for informed consent to be in place for tissue to be used for research purposes so long as:

- Tissue is supplied to the researcher in an anonymised format and;
- ii. The intended research is subject to approval by a UK Research Ethics Committee

In line with the spirit of the relevant legislation and guidance, if it is known, or comes to be known that there is a request for tissue **not** to be used for research or that pre-existing consent is withdrawn then such wishes will be respectively adhered to, with such cases not being made available for research purposes.^[14]

The above principles also apply to BRAIN UK 3.

BRAIN UK 2: Informed consent (either from an individual during life or an individual in a qualifying relationship after death) is a mandatory requirement for tissue to be used for a 'Scheduled Purpose' of which research is one.

11.1.1 Consent for Hospital Post Mortem Examinations^[15]

Informed Consent must be obtained for a hospital post mortem examination (e.g. to gain further understanding of a patient's illness or the efficacy of a drug regimen or any other treatment administered) and this consent is separate from the Informed Consent required for the removal, storage and use of human tissue for a Scheduled Purpose. Informed Consent for the latter activities should be obtained separately.

11.1.2 Coroner's (or Procurator Fiscal's) Post Mortem Examinations^[15]

Informed Consent is not required for post mortem examinations that have been ordered as part of a Coroner's (or Procurator Fiscal's) examination into an individual's cause of death. However, for the continued storage and use of human tissues derived from such investigations archived on or after 1st September 2006 (i.e. that form part of *BRAIN UK 2*) after a Coroner (or Procurator Fiscal) has discharged their responsibility Informed Consent is a mandatory requirement.

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

The archives maintained by Participating Centres will invariably contain residual tissue derived from children, infants, neonates and foetuses.

Under the Human Tissue Act 2004 a child is defined as an individual under the age of 18 years (or under 16 years in the parallel Scottish legislation). A child is deemed competent to give valid consent for themselves if they are able to demonstrate sufficient intelligence and an understanding of the situation (so-called 'Gillick competency') although this concept does not apply to Scottish law.

Where children are unable to give valid consent for themselves (either due to not being competent or willing to do so) then this obligation passes to those with parental responsibilities (as covered by the Children Act 1989).

Participating Centres will, as part of their Human Tissue Authority Licensing conditions, have processes and procedures in place in order to provide information to the patient and their families and agents and to collect and record such informed consent in writing where mandated by law for the collection and storage of tissue for research purposes.

10.1.4 Adults with Lack of Capacity to Consent[17]

The archives maintained by Participating Centres will invariable contain residual tissue derived from adults lacking the capacity to consent as defined by the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and the equivalent Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000.

As argued in Section 11.1.3 Participating Centres will, as part of their Human Tissue Authority Licensing conditions, have processes and procedures in place in order to provide information to the patient and their families and agents and to collect and record such deemed consent in writing where reasonable.

11.2 Human Tissue Authority Licensing

<u>BRAIN UK 1</u> and <u>BRAIN UK 2</u>: It is a requirement for all Pathology Departments undertaking autopsy work to have procedures in place to ensure that appropriate Informed Consent is obtained for the storage and use of tissue removed at a post mortem examination, in order to comply with the Human Tissue Act 2004. All Participating Centres in *BRAIN UK* are licensed by the Human Tissue Authority, which has robust mechanisms in place to ensure that the procedures for obtaining consent comply with the Human Tissue Act 2004 and the Human Tissue Authority Codes of Practice. Model consent forms are available on the Human Tissue Authority website:

http://www.hta.gov.uk/legislationpoliciesandcodesofpractice/modelconsentforms.cfm

<u>BRAIN UK 3:</u> Diagnostic archives (i.e. tissues taken from the living as part of a surgical or diagnostic procedure and then archived) do not need to be stored under an HTA licence. Diagnostic <u>tissue</u> can only be released for <u>research</u> under the following circumstances:

- When the patient has given consent for use of their <u>tissue</u> in <u>research</u> (the preferable scenario); or
- When the <u>tissue</u> will be released to the researcher in a non-identifiable form; and
- When the <u>tissue</u> will be used in a project that has approval by a recognised <u>Research</u> Ethics Committee

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

11.3 Consent for the Use of Patient Data

Informed Consent for access to and disclosure from the medical records of both the living and deceased is not covered by the Human Tissue Act 2004 (and the Scottish equivalent), but by the National Health Service Act 2006 (see Section 10.3 below). Consent for access to and disclosure from the computerised laboratory records of patients fulfilling the inclusion criteria with tissue(s) will not be sought in the first instance for the following reasons:

- 1. Approaching relatives following bereavement could cause distress and harm especially if the nature of the bereavement related to a distressing condition or incident.
- 2. Given the potential number of cases available the absolute requirement for consent would severely limit the size and scope of the database within available resources and diminish its potential benefits to the research community and the UK as a whole.
- 3. The intended use of linked anonymised ('pseudonymised') data renders the probability that any individual could be identified by the recipient of such data to be extremely small. For practical purposes, this data may be considered as anonymous thus there is no concomitant requirement for consent^[18, 19].

11.4 Section 251 National Health Service Act 2006

For the reasons cited above it is felt that obtaining individual consent for access to and disclosure from the medical records of the deceased would be both impracticable and disproportionate. The implementation of measures to maintain patient anonymity and the common law duty of confidentiality (see Section 12 – Methods) and given that this initiative would potentially facilitate the undertaking of high quality research that could result in a direct patient benefit for individuals who develop neurological diseases and disorders in the future, it is felt that exemption from the requirement to obtain consent for the access to and disclosure from medical records under Section 251 of the National Health Service Act 2006 can be reasonably applied for in this instance.

As part of our previous applications (Refs: 09/H0504/68 and 11/SC/0395) we have received conditional exemption from Section 251 support from the National Information Governance Board for Health and Social Care Ethics and Confidentiality Committee (NIGB-ECC) (Reference: ECC 3-06(k)/2009). Previous guidance and advice from the Approvals Manager of the NIGB-ECC have been utilised to create the necessary processes and procedures to obtain Section 251 support should this become a mandatory requirement (see Section 12.3).

12. Methods

N.B. Expansions of this section are contained within the following policy and standard operating procedure documents:

SOP 1: Policy for Access to Archival Tissue Holdings of Participating Centres (see Appendix B)

SOP 2: Data Confidentiality and Security Policy (see Appendix C)

SOP 3: Information Technology Security Policy (see Appendix D)

SOP 4: Data Extraction Policy (see Appendix E)

SOP 5: Policy for the Disclosure of Clinically Significant Information (see Appendix F)

12.1 Database Development, Management and Responsibilities

The database and all files (both electronic and paper) relating to it will be managed on a day-to-day basis by the designated Data Co-ordinators. These individuals will have core responsibility for undertaking procedures and arrangements for data collection, data anonymisation (where not already performed), data storage and data security. Data generated

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

or accrued as part of this initiative will be accessible to only the Data Co-ordinators and the Chief Investigators until the creation of a secure fully anonymised database is complete. (Please see SOP 1: Policy for Access to Tissue Archival Holdings of Participating Centres, Section 3 for further details).

12.2 Data Collection

12.2.1 Sources of data

Relevant data will be obtained from the computerised archives of each neuroscience centre participating in the *BRAIN UK* initiative. Where such records prove incomplete, reference will be made to paper records (*e.g.* pathology reports and autopsy reports) held by the same departments.

12.2.2 Frequency of data extractions

The frequency of any data extraction will be dependent upon the size of the participating centre in question and the potential number of applicable cases they are able to collect but it is intended to poll each participating centre for an update of the cases they maintain on at least a quarterly basis.

12.2.3 Types of data

Computerised laboratory records from participating centres will be accessed and data pertinent to the study will be accrued. These data will consist of:

- (i) Disease/diagnostic category,
- (ii) Systemised Nomenclature of Medicine Clinical Terms (SNOMED CT) number or equivalent,
- (iii) Laboratory/Specimen/Post mortem number (dependent upon local practice and custom),
- (iv) Specimen format (e.g. formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissue, formalin-fixed wet tissue, frozen tissue, cerebrospinal fluid, whole blood, plasma, serum, unstained slides, stained slides, tissue microarrays),
- (v) Location,
- (vi) Custodian contact details (contact name, telephone number, fax number, e-mail address, full postal address),
- (vii) Matched clinicopathological data availability (e.g. pathology reports and autopsy reports),
- (viii) Simple demographic data (e.g. sex, age at death, age at time of tissue sampling).

12.2.4 Linked anonymised (pseudonymised) data

The inclusion of a specimen laboratory number (or equivalent) will by definition make the data stored on the database linked anonymised ('pseudonymised') $^{[19]}$ in nature. From feedback we have received from those centres interested in participation there was a common feeling that the inclusion of laboratory numbers would make it more efficient for them to locate specific tissue(s) and medical data of interest for subsequent research activities. Although a laboratory number is potentially a personal identifier, the key relating to core personal details (e.g. patient name, date of birth, address, NHS number) will be held and maintained only by the participating host centre in question. No inference about the identity of an individual represented by a particular laboratory number can therefore be reasonably or easily deduced by the Data Co-ordinators or others. The data is therefore linked anonymised which is Ref: 14/SC/oog8

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

considered as anonymised for practical purposes when the key to patient identity is not held by the researcher as is the case here and that there is neither compromise to patient privacy nor a common law requirement to seek consent for their use under these circumstances [18,19].

12.3 Data Anonymisation

Ideally, and in the first instance, the removal of identifying information from accrued data will be performed within the originating organisation by a Healthcare Professional prior to it being disseminated as linked anonymised data to the Data Co-ordinator. However if, due to time or cost constraints, this could not be performed by the data custodians then data collection and anonymisation would be performed by the Data Co-ordinators. The Data Co-ordinators would take all measures to anonymise the data as soon as is practical resulting in a linked anonymised data set. As nominated individuals would have this task this would present minimal risks of personal data being disclosed inappropriately and it would greatly reduce any scope for the infringement of the common law duty of confidentiality. This measure makes potentially sensitive personal data available to the least number of individuals possible and greatly reduces the scope for legal or ethical objection. The Data Co-ordinators would be bound by a duty of confidentiality as *per* the relevant policies produced by the University of Southampton and would be liable to the sanctions set out in such policies should inappropriate breaches of data security or confidentiality occur for whatever reason.

In order for the Data Co-ordinators to gain access to pertinent data it will be ensured that relevant administrative and managerial approvals have been sought at the participating centre in question (e.g. Honorary Contract, Research Passport) and that an evidence-based application to the National Information Governance Board for Health and Social Care Ethics and Confidentiality Committee (NIGB-ECC) is made on a case-by-case basis as the requirement to do so arises.

Shifting the burden of creating anonymised or linked anonymised data sets onto hospital pathology departments could be onerous and may create a reason for a centre not to become involved with this initiative. As comprehensive nationwide coverage is a primary goal of this initiative we consider that providing time resources to participating centres will make their involvement more likely, and will provide a more representative and enduring data and tissue resource than would otherwise be the case.

12.4 Data Transfer

Linked anonymised data will be transferred from the site of origin to the central electronically by using an encrypted Zip file and the use of the University's 'Dropoff' service (https://dropoff.soton.ac.uk) for secure transmission of the file. With the password for the zip file being communicated via another medium; telephone, post or email to an alternative email account used for the 'Dropoff' process.

It must be stressed that the 'Dropoff' service provided by the University of Southampton not be confused with the commercially available 'DropBox' which is wholly unsuitable for this purpose.

Given historic and high profile security lapses in a range of UK governmental and organisational settings concerning the loss of sensitive data, measures maintaining the security of data during its transport or transfer from the originating site to the core database are considered to be of utmost importance. Therefore protocols for the safe and secure transportation or transfer of data have been developed in line with the recommendations of best practice contained within the NHS Information Security Management Code of Practice^[20]. The bulk extraction and transfer of data will also only occur once the specific authorisations of the Participating Centres have been received in line with the NHS Information Governance Framework^[21].

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

12.5 Data Storage

The *BRAIN UK* database will not store any patient identifiable information either electronically or in a written or printed format. *BRAIN UK* data will be stored electronically, by the provision of a folder, on networked SAN storage dedicated to University research data in secure University data centre. By storing the data on networked storage, risk of theft or loss of data on the client PCs is minimised. Further encryption and securing of the client PCs minimises further risk of loss of data via data remnants, swapfile contamination and orphaned temporary files.

12.6 Data Security

12.6.1 Password protection

The System shall be accessible from any staff University PC with permitted access control with access permissions set and verified to permit only those with authorised user access. Network logins ensure access by authorised staff: project staff, project supervisor and authorised iSolutions staff under supervision (ISO27002:2013 9.2.3) with access restricted by Active Directory permissions to authorised staff and minimal set of senior trusted administrators. (ISO27002:2013 9.4.1). The system will only be accessed by *BRAIN UK* Data Co-Ordinators on a routine basis and will be made available to the *BRAIN UK* Director (Professor James A. R. Nicoll), his deputy (Dr David Hilton) upon request.

There will be enforced regular robust password changes 9ISO27002:2013 9.4.3), review of user access rights at regular intervals (ISO27002:2012 9.2.5) and review of access permissions on a regular basis and following exceptional events such as termination of employment (ISO27002:2013 9.2.5).

12.6.2 Electronic file back-up

The BRAIN UK database and the database relating to the application process contain valuable sensitive data. It is considered best practice to ensure that these files are maintained on a networked SAN storage dedicated to University research data in a secure University data centre. Backups of the data will be automated via functionality inherent in the networked storage, providing a minimum of 90 days snapshots of the data for recovery purposes, and mirrored to an offsite secure University data centre for business continuity purposes.

(Current configuration provides snapshots every 2 hours, retained for one month, and offsite replication every 6 hours, retained for 3 months)

12.6.3 Encryption

Current encryption guidance for NHS organisations can be found in "Guidelines on use of encryption to protect person identifiable and sensitive information", and we would expect any electronic solution for the handling of patient identifiable / sensitive data to comply with this guidance as a minimum.

access Windows based PCs provided will be via by iSolutions. By storing the data on networked storage, risk of theft or loss of data on the client PCs is minimised. Further encryption and securing of the client PCs minimises further risk of loss of data via data remnants, swapfile contamination and orphaned temporary files. BRAIN UK employs full disk encryption of all PCs accessing BRAIN UK data using MS Bitlocker as per iSolutions policy (ISO27002:2013 10.1.1) with central recovery keys for MS Bitlocker having restricted administrator access (ISO27002:2013 10.1.1)

Data will only be transferred using an encrypted Zip file (AES-256 encryption; many Zip programs offer this functionality) with the password for the zip file shall be communicated via another medium. Data required to be physically transported will us an encrypted USB drive

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

that conforms to NHS-approved standards (FIPS-140-2; 3-DES or AES, to 256-bit strength. Kingston Technology DataTraveler Locker 4GB 256-SHA is a typical approved device).

12.6.4 Data Protection Act 1998

Procedures and protocols relating to the Data Protection Act 1998 are dealt with in detail within SOP 2: Data Confidentiality and Security Policy (see Appendix C).

12.7 Research Uses of Database

Currently the BRAIN UK database is offline as described above. It is accessible to researchers indirectly by their e-mail queries to BRAIN UK staff who search the database on their behalf. However, it is our ultimate aim to make the *BRAIN UK* database available to the UK research community in a fully anonymised format using the website of the British Neuropathological Society (http://bns.org.uk/) as a portal and will be hosted by the University of Southampton. Basic and superficial content will be available to browsers (*e.g.* disease category, number of specimens available UK-wide, tissue format, sex, age range represented and number of participating centres holding relevant material) and functionality will be incorporated to enable browsers to undertake queries relating to sex and age if such variables are important to their intended research. It is important to note that no laboratory numbers will be presented on the website under any circumstances.

It is envisaged that the *BRAIN UK* database will be used as a means of facilitating high quality research by enabling researchers to determine which archive(s) contain those tissues of interest to their future and on-going investigations.

12.8 Applications from External Researchers

Once a researcher has identified relevant tissue pertinent to their research they are at liberty to make an application for access to tissue held by Participating Centres. This will be achieved via the use of a standard application form which will be submitted to *BRAIN UK* electronically with a signed paper copy being submitted by post. The application form will provide contact information, details of where the research is to be conducted and details of the types and quantities of tissue required. Each application will be supported by documentary evidence of a favourable ethical opinion (where applicable, otherwise the applicants will be seeking the cover of the BRAIN UK ethical approval), a declaration that sufficient funding is available, favourable peer-review (if available, otherwise the *BRAIN UK* Director has sufficient expertise to provide this), sponsorship and the study protocol (please refer to *SOP 1: Policy for Access to Tissue Archival Holdings of Participating Centres* for additional details).

Once all documentation has been received, each application will be considered against standard criteria (see SOP 1: Policy for Access to Tissue Archival Holdings of Participating Centres, Section 3.3.1 for further details) and a decision relating to granting access to the BRAIN UK network of participating centres will be made by the BRAIN UK Committee. This decision making process will be based upon whether the proposed research reaches a minimum threshold in terms of quality and design. Each application will also be disseminated to participating centres holding tissue of potential use for their opinion and it is important to note that each centre has the ultimate right to veto the use of their archive regardless of any decision made by BRAIN UK.

Once a favourable opinion has been received researchers will be put in contact with participating centres and vice versa. It is the responsibility of each participating centre and researcher to ensure that supply arrangements are in place to ensure the storage, use and disposal of the samples in accordance with the HTA Codes of Practice (i.e. a 'Material Transfer Agreement'), the terms of the ethical approval and any other conditions required by the participating centre supplying relevant material. In addition, it is the sole responsibility of the researcher to ensure that local R&D approvals have also been attained prior to undertaking any work. Costs incurred due to the retrieval, processing and transportation of tissue will be met by the investigator's grant fund.

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

The process of applying for access to the *BRAIN UK* network of participating centres will require that personal information of applicants will be held for a period of 5 years for the purposes of audit and to enable annual reports to be drafted. As a consequence, the Data Protection Act 1998^[22] will apply therefore *BRAIN UK* will adhere to the letter and spirit of this legislation to maintain data security and to ensure that all data is processed fairly and lawfully. All policies and guidance relating to Data Protection published by the University of Southampton will be implemented and adhered to.

12.9 Ethical Approval

BRAIN UK will, in the first instance, be applying for 'generic ethical approval' for the use of archived tissue at participating centres for the purposes of supporting research. This has been granted as part of our previous applications (Refs: 09/H0504/68 and 11/SC/0395). If forthcoming, this would enable most research to be conducted without the requirement for individual researchers to obtain their own ethical approval and would greatly facilitate the process of neurological research. However, there may be occasions when BRAIN UK may feel it is appropriate for a particular study to receive additional scrutiny from a UK Research Ethics Committee. This would apply in particular to research requiring access to relatives of the deceased, broad access to clinical notes and medical histories and to research that has an above 'minimal' risk of generating data that would have clinical significance for the surviving relatives of a donor. Applying for such additional ethical approval would be the sole responsibility of the researcher and evidence of a favourable opinion would need to be submitted in support of an application (see SOP 5: Policy for the Disclosure of Clinically Significant Information for further details).

12.10 Submission of Research Data

All researchers utilising tissue obtained from the *BRAIN UK* network of participating centres are obliged to submit the outcomes of their research to the *BRAIN UK* Director in the form of fully acknowledged papers and abstracts. In addition, at the end of their studies researchers will be encouraged to submit the new data generated by their studies to *BRAIN UK*. This would ultimately create an enriched data set which would further facilitate future research and promote collaboration.

12.11 Offer to Disclose Clinically Significant Data

It will be the policy of *BRAIN UK* not to offer to disclose research data to the donors or relatives of the deceased/donors except in rare and exceptional circumstances. This decision has been based upon the following reasoning:

- 1. The tissue held is diagnostically verified therefore, for diseased tissues, there would be reduced scope to discover additional information of clinical pertinence. For instance, if an individual had died of Huntingdon's disease, it is probable that family members at risk would already have been identified and received appropriate counselling and testing. It is therefore assumed that the value of outcome has been determined and that subsequent life choices (e.g. reproductive decisions) would have been addressed.
- 2. Many neurological and psychiatric diseases and disorders remain incurable and there is limited scope in terms of effective curative therapy. Therefore the likelihood of an effective clinical outcome would remain low for most research particularly that relating to neurodegenerative disorders and dementias.
- 3. In terms of study context, there would be no existing relationship between participants in the *BRAIN UK* network and the relatives of donors nor would it be likely that one would exist in the future. This would indicate, as a consequence, that to approach relatives would be inappropriate. However, if researchers were to pursue living individuals (either donors or their relatives) in terms of gaining additional clinical information as part of their study, this would require the additional approval of a UK Research Ethics Committee and this undertaking would be the sole responsibility of that researcher.

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

Importantly, in the unlikely event that research yields data of a clinically significant nature, such as a modification or change to the diagnosis, the details should be made available to both *BRAIN UK* and the NHS Trust from which the relevant sample originated so that a decision can be reached over whether to offer to disclose such data to the living relatives of that donor or the donor themselves in the case of a biopsy. If so, the question will be considered by the *BRAIN UK* Committee which will seek appropriate advice and discuss the possibility of disclosure with the relevant NHS Trust. In this event, the final decision to disclose will lie with the NHS Trust from which the relevant tissue was obtained for research purposes. The process and means of such a disclosure will follow the policies and guidelines of the particular NHS Trust in question and would ultimately be decided by them as they would be in possession of the 'key' which would link to the identity of the relevant patient.

The principles regarding this process are elaborated upon in SOP 5: Policy for the disclosure of Clinically Significant Information.

13. Statistical Analysis

The data stored on the database will be utilised for simple data analysis to exemplify the content of the database (e.g. diagnostic categories represented, the number of specimens, types of holdings at each individual site). The representation of data will be through the use of simple tables or diagrams e.g. pie charts, bar charts.

14. Ethical and Legal Considerations

Given high profile publicity relating to the removal and storage of organs and tissues from the deceased in particular it is imperative that BRAIN UK acts upon the ethical and legal outcomes of various public inquiries and reports to Parliament (in particular the Isaacs Report^[23], the Kennedy Report^[24], the Campbell Report^[25] and the Redfern Report^[26]). Subsequent reports from the Chief Medical Officer for England and the Retained Organs Commission laid the foundation for the enactment of the Human Tissue Act 2004 (and the Human Tissue (Scotland) Act 2006) and the establishment of the Human Tissue Authority in England, Wales and Northern Ireland to oversee and regulate the use of human tissue for a variety of purposes of which research is one component.

The formal adoption of a legal framework has removed ambiguity and concerns occasioned by past events and now permits research using human tissue to be undertaken in an environment that balances the rights of donors and participants against the benefits of any research outcome. Despite its fundamental importance to the research sector, the Human Tissue Act 2004 (its Scottish equivalent) and the associated HTA Codes of Practice are but a single aspect relating to research. Other relevant legislation such as the Data Protection Act 1998 and the National Health Service Act 2006 are also pertinent in relation to how patient data is handled and processed in such a way to protect the rights to privacy and confidentiality of research participants. This section will summarise the legal and ethical background to the establishment of BRAIN UK and the subsequent moulding of our intended procedures and protocols.

The data of interest in the compilation of the BRAIN UK database is to be derived from the medical records (primarily the computerised laboratory records) of the both living and deceased individuals. The principles and requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998 does not apply to the deceased^[22] meaning that there is an immediate difference in the legal obligations regarding the storage and use of data dependent upon its status. With regards to the medical records of the deceased, these are in part catered for by the Access to Medical Records Act 1990 but this legislation primarily relates to access to the medical records of the deceased by those who may have a claim arising from the patient's death and only applies to records created since 1st November 1991^[27]. More recently, there has been an indication that access may also be facilitated via the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and this has subsequently been clarified to conclude that the duty of confidence is not absolute and may be waived if consent to do so is given by the individual, or disclosure is required as a legal duty or it is in the public interest to do so^[28]. The Bluck case^[29] initially indicated that disclosure may

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

be exempted under Section 41 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 but as a consequence of the relevant clarification by the Information Commissioner's Office (ICO) this position was rejected as disclosure of patient information would not have been in the public interest in this instance. Additionally, disclosure of such information, where there may be interference of the rights of surviving family members (so-called 'survivor privacy'), may be potentially prevented under Section 44 of the Human Rights Act 1998. This legislation applies to living individuals and so there is a degree of ambiguity regarding the deceased and this has been exemplified by a change in the advice of the ICO indicating that this legislation should not act as a statutory bar. Although greater clarity regarding access to the medical records of the deceased for research purposes has been forthcoming in the recent past there still remains a grey area exacerbated by a lack of formal legal obligations to confidentiality that apply to the deceased^[30].

Although there is agreement upon the ethical basis for the maintenance of the privacy and the common law confidentiality of individuals and their relatives after death^[31], it is felt that the intended nature and scope of this initiative would make it insupportable in terms of available time and resources to undertake obtaining consent for access to and disclosure from the medical records of the deceased. In addition, given the extrapolated volume of surgical cases available now and into the future, to obtain consent on a case-by-case basis would greatly diminish the power of the initiative and greatly restrict the scope, coverage and depth of the proposed database. Therefore, it is proposed that, as obtaining consent would be onerous and disproportionate, an approach will be made to the National Information Governance Board for Health and Social Care Ethics and Confidentiality Committee (NIGB-ECC) to seek permission for disclosure under Section 251 of the National Health Service Act 2006 using procedures developed in line with advice and guidance received after discussions with the Approvals Manager of the NIGB-ECC.

In addition, there are ethical considerations pertaining to approaching the families of the deceased or living donors as this has the potential to cause harm or distress especially if the nature of the bereavement related to a distressing condition or incident. In addition, it would also be inappropriate to return to the bereaved family if a number of years have elapsed since the time of death as this may again have the potential to cause harm and revisit events that may have been emotionally adjusted to. With regards to the potential passage of time, it may also be difficult to locate family members to obtain consent due to migration or, indeed, death.

It is accepted that during the process of accessing the medical records and the anonymisation of any subsequent data that individuals may be privy to personal identifying information. It is intended that linked anonymisation will occur as soon as is practicable and that this process will either be undertaken by the original custodians of the data or, if they are not able to, by nominated *BRAIN UK* staff. In exceptional circumstances, when a specific research study requires additional information to be obtained from the hospital records and the staff of the participating centre and BRAIN UK are unable to extract this information the research team may do this after the necessary approvals of the NIGB-ECC for 'Section 251 support' have been sought and local data custodians have also granted relevant management approvals. This greatly minimises the access to such sensitive information and greatly reduces the scope for inappropriate dissemination of this information. In addition, there are contractual mechanisms and safeguards in place that would bring forward sanctions should there be a breach of confidentiality or an inappropriate disclosure of information.

We therefore feel, as safeguards are to be rigorously implemented concerning the security and confidentiality of any data accrued, that the proposal does not represent any significant or unmanageable risks to the well-being or security of the families of the deceased or to those still living. Also, given that the future research that could be facilitated by this initiative has the potential to be of benefit to such individuals, as well as society as a whole, we feel that this initiative will very much be in the best interests of the future health and well-being of the population of the United Kingdom and beyond. Disclosure of relevant patient information would therefore be in the public interest, be proportionate to need and would balance with the rights of the individuals concerned and their families whilst maintaining trust in what is a confidential service.

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

Finally, it should be considered that all autopsy tissue encompassed by BRAIN UK stored since the commencement of the Human Tissue Act 2004 (i.e. on or after 1st September 2006) is obtained with the permission of the patient (during life) or of their nominated representative or from an individual in a qualifying relationship for research use. However, at present this tissue is often not used for this purpose as the local centres may not be participating in relevant research. By making knowledge of this extremely important tissue resource widely available to the research community in a searchable format there is a much greater likelihood of such archived diagnostically-verified tissue being used for research that could benefit society as a whole in the future^[32]. It is important to emphasise this in relation to cases of uncommon disorders where a single centre is unlikely to have sufficient cases to undertake a useful research project.

15. References

- 1. Wittchen H-U and Jacobi F (2005) Size and burden of mental disorders in Europe a critical review and appraisal of 27 studies. *European Neuro-Psychopharmacology* **15**: 357 376
- 2. Ludolph AC and Sperfeld A-D (2005) Preclinical trials An update on translational research in ALS. *Neurodegenerative Diseases* **2**: 215 219
- 3. The Royal College of Pathologists/Institute of Biomedical Sciences (2005) The retention and storage of pathological records and archives (3rd Edition) http://www.rcpath.org%2FResources%2FRCPath%2FMigrated%2520Resources%2FDocuments%2FG%2Fg031 retentionstorageofrecords oct06.PDF&ei=aTbyUqyUDIXe7AaWq 4GYAg&usg=AFQjCNHUx53OU2rzMYwzqFmvax9N1QARBg&sig2=djpBK39HV9 kcGwr4b sNjw
- 4. Human Tissue Authority (September 2009) Code of Practice 9: Research http://www.hta.gov.uk/legislationpoliciesandcodesofpractice/codesofpractice/code9rese arch.cfm?faArea1=customwidgets.content view 1&cit id=757
- 5. Wise J (2010) Government axes a further 11 health quangos. *BMJ* **341**: c5819 http://www.bmj.com/content/341/bmj.c5819
- Graus F, Saiz A, Lai M, Bruna J, López F, Sabater L, Blanco Y, Rey MJ, Ribalta T and Dalmau J (2008) Neuronal surface antigen antibodies in limbic encephalitis. *Neurology* 71(12): 930 936
 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2586945/?tool=pubmed
- 7. Jarius S, Paul F, Franciotta D, Waters P, Zipp F, Hohlfeld R, Vincent A and Wildemann B (2008) Mechanisms of Disease: aquaporin-4 antibodies in neuromyelitis optica. *Nature Clinical Practice Neurology* **4(4)**: 202 214 http://www.nature.com/nrneurol/journal/v4/n4/pdf/ncpneuro0764.pdf
- Munoz DG, Neumann M, Kusaka H, Yokota O, Ishihara K, Terada S, Kuroda S and Mackenzie IR (2009) FUS pathology in basophilic body inclusion disease. *Acta Neuropathologica* 118: 617 – 627 http://www.springerlink.com/content/b13851u7244145m2/
- 9. The UK Brain Banks Network: http://www.mrc.ac.uk/Ourresearch/Resourceservices/UKBrainBanksnetwork/index.htm
- 10. UKCRC Brain Banking Strategy Advisory Committee (2008) Towards a national framework for brain banking in the UK: Report to UKCRC http://www.mrc.ac.uk/Utilities/Documentrecord/index.htm?d=MRC006116
- 11. The Confederation of Cancer Biobanks: http://www.ncri.org.uk/ccb/
- 12. Cancer Research UK Bio-Specimen Biorepository: https://brd.nci.nih.gov/BRN/brnHome.seam
- 13. Human Tissue Authority (September 2009) Code of Practice 1: Consent http://www.hta.gov.uk/legislationpoliciesandcodesofpractice/codesofpractice/code1consent.cfm
- 14. Human Tissue Authority (September 2009) Code of Practice 9: Research (Para. 38) http://www.hta.gov.uk/legislationpoliciesandcodesofpractice/codesofpractice/code9rese arch.cfm?FaArea1=customwidgets.content view 1&cit id=763&cit parent cit id=757

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

- 15. Human Tissue Authority (September 2009) Code of Practice 3: Post-mortem examination http://www.hta.gov.uk/legislationpoliciesandcodesofpractice/codesofpractice/code3post-mortem.cfm
- 16. Human Tissue Authority (September 2009) Code of Practice 1: Consent (Paras. 139 145).

 <a href="http://www.hta.gov.uk/legislationpoliciesandcodesofpractice/codesofpractice/code1consent.cfm?FaArea1=customwidgets.content_view_1&cit_id=667&cit_parent_cit_id=652
- 17. Human Tissue Authority (September 2009) Code of Practice 1: Consent (Paras. 126 138).

 http://www.hta.gov.uk/legislationpoliciesandcodesofpractice/codesofpractice/code1consent.cfm?FaArea1=customwidgets.content view 1&cit id=667&cit parent cit id=652
- 18. Scottish Executive (July 2003) NHS Scotland: NHS Code of Practice on Protecting Patient Confidentiality: http://www.ehealth.scot.nhs.uk/wp-content/documents/nhs-code-of-practice-on-protecting-patient-confidentiality.pdf
- 19. British Medical Association (April 2007) Guidance on secondary uses of patient information. http://bma.org.uk/practical-support-at-work/ethics/confidentiality-and-health-records
- 20. Department of Health (April 2007) Information Security Management: NHS Code of Practice http://www.connectingforhealth.nhs.uk/systemsandservices/infogov/codes/securitycode.pdf
- 21. Department of Health NHS Information Governance (July 2008) Guidance note: Security of NHS patient data shared for research purposes: http://www.connectingforhealth.nhs.uk/systemsandservices/infogov/links/infosecresearchdata.pdf
- 22. The Data Protection Act 1998: http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts1998/ukpga 19980029 en 1
- 23. The Investigation of Events that followed the death of Cyril Mark Isaacs (The 'Isaacs Report'): http://www.archive2.official-documents.co.uk/reps/isaacs00/isaacs02.htm
- 24. Learning from Bristol: the Department of Health's response to the Report of the Public Inquiry into children's heart surgery at the Bristol Royal Infirmary 1984-1995 (The 'Kennedy Report').

 http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH 4002859
- 25. Organ retention at Central Manchester and Manchester Children's University Hospitals Trust: report of an independent investigation (The 'Campbell Report'). http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH 077605
- 26. The Royal Liverpool Children's Enquiry: Summary and Recommendations (30 January 2001): http://www.official-documents.gov.uk/document/hc0001/hc00/0012/0012 i.pdf
- 27. Access to Medical Records Act 1990: http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts1990/ukpga 19900023 en 1
- 28. Information Commissioner's Office: Freedom of Information Act Awareness Guidance 2: Information provided in confidence.

 <a href="http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=web&cd=3&cad=rja&ved=0CDsQFjAC&url=http%3A%2F%2Fico.org.uk%2F~%2Fmedia%2Fdocuments%2Flibrary%2Ffreedom of information%2Fdetailed specialist guides%2Fconfidentialing.pdf

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

formation_v4.ashx&ei=uVLyUrqRD4nA7AaRvIH4CQ&usg=AFQjCNGktOwdO-G7tuDY74gxzEfZ5O2QPw&sig2= pRMh2com7KioEcA 4kwJg

- 29. Bluck versus The Information Commissioner and Epsom and St. Helier University NHS Trust (17 September 2007):

 http://www.informationtribunal.gov.uk/DBFiles/Decision/i25/mrspbluckvinformationcommissioner17sept07.pdf
- 30. Department of Health; The Common Law Duty of Confidentiality: http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/Browsable/DH 5803173
- 31. Department of Health (September 2007) NHS Information Governance: Guidance on Legal and Professional Obligations: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nhs-information-governance-legal-and-professional-obligations
- 32. Department of Health (November 2003) Confidentiality: NHS Code of Practice: http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH4069253

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

Appendices

Appendix A: Tissue Storage Centre Contacts

England

1. Barking, Havering and Redbridge Hospitals NHS Trust

Dr Ute Pohl Consultant in Neuropathology

Neuropathology Department Queen's Hospital Rom Valley Way

Romford Tel: 01708 435000 x2943 Essex Fax: 01708 503115

RM7 0AG e-mail: <u>ute.pohl@bhrhospitals.nhs.uk</u>

2. Barts Health NHS Trust

Prof. Silvia Marino
Honorary Consultant in Neuropathology

Cellular Pathology and Blizard Institute of Cell and Molecular Science Barts Health NHS Trust

80 Newark Street

London Tel: 020 7377 7000

E1 2AT e-mail: <u>s.marino@qmul.ac.uk</u>

3. Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Prof. Peter Collins Honorary Consultant in Neuropathology

The Department of Histopathology, Box 235, Addenbrooke's Hospital

Cambridge

 Hill's Road
 Tel: 01223 217163

 Cambridge
 Fax: 01223 216980

 CB2 2QQ
 e-mail: vpc20@cam.ac.uk

4. Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children NHS Foundation Trust

Dr Thomas Jacques Consultant in Neuropathology

Department of Histopathology Camelia Botnar Laboratory Great Ormond Street Hospital

Great Ormond Street Tel: 020 7829 8895 London Fax: 020 7831 4366

WC1N 3JH e-mail: <u>t.jacques@ich.ucl.ac.uk</u>

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

5. Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust

Dr Federico Roncaroli Consultant in Neuropathology

Department of Histopathology

Charing Cross Hospital

Fulham Palace Road Tel: 020 3311 7178 London Fax: 020 3311 7794

W6 8RF e-mail: f.roncaroli@imperial.ac.uk

6. King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

Mr Lawrence Doey Laboratory Manager

Department of Clinical Neuropathology 1st Floor, Academic Neuroscience Centre

King's College Hospital Denmark Hill

London Tel: 020 3299 1951

SE5 9RS e-mail: <u>Lawrence.doey@nhs.net</u>

7. Lancashire Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Prof. Timothy P Dawson Honorary Consultant in Neuropathology

Lancashire Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Fulwood

Preston Tel: 01772 716565

PR3 9HT e-mail: timothy.dawson@lthtr.nhs.uk

8. Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust

Dr Arundhati Chakrabarty Consultant in Neuropathology

Department of Histopathology and Molecular Pathology

Level 5 Bexley Wing

St James University Hospital

Leeds Tel: 0113 392 2805

LS9 7TF e-mail: aruna.chakrabarty@leedsth.nhs.uk

9. North Bristol NHS Trust

Dr Kathreena Kurian

Consultant in Neuropathology

Department of Neuropathology

Frenchay Hospital Frenchay Park Road

Frenchay Tel: 0117 340 2386 Bristol Fax: 0117 340 3760

BS16 1LE e-mail: <u>Kathreena.Kurian@nbt.nhs.uk</u>

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

Date: 15 April 2015

- 26 -

10.Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust

Prof. James Lowe Honorary Consultant in Neuropathology

Department of Pathology Queen's Medical Centre

Clifton Boulevard Tel: 0115 970 9269 Nottingham Fax: 0115 970 9759

NG7 2UH e-mail: <u>James.Lowe@nottingham.ac.uk</u>

11. Oxford Radcliffe Hospitals NHS Trust

Dr Olaf Ansorge Consultant in Neuropathology

Neuropathology Department Level 1 West Wing John Radcliffe Hospital

Headley Way Tel: 01865 231434 Oxford Fax: 01865 231157

OX3 9DU e-mail: olaf.ansorge@clneuro.ox.ac.uk

12. Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust

Dr David Hilton Consultant in Neuropathology

Department of Histopathology

Derriford Hospital Derriford Road

Crownhill Tel: 01752 763599
Plymouth Fax: 01752 763590

PL6 8DH e-mail: david.hilton@phnt.swest.nhs.uk

13. Royal Free NHS Foundation Trust

Dr Malcolm Galloway Consultant in Neuropathology

Department of Cellular Pathology

The Royal Free Hospital

Pond Street Tel: 020 7830 2227 London Fax: 020 7435 3289

NW3 2QG e-mail: malcolm.galloway@royalfree.nhs.uk

14. St George's Healthcare NHS Trust

Dr Leslie R Bridges Consultant in Neuropathology

Department of Cellular Pathology

St George's Hospital
Blackshaw Road

London Tel: 020 8672 1255

SW17 0QT e-mail: <u>Leslie.Bridges@stgeorges.nhs.uk</u>

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

Date: 15 April 2015 - 27-

15. Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust

Dr Daniel du Plessis Consultant in Neuropathology

Department of Cellular Pathology Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust

Stott Lane

Salford Tel: 0161 206 5020 Greater Manchester Fax: 0161 206 4654

M6 8HD e-mail: <u>daniel.duplessis@srft.nhs.uk</u>

16. Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Prof. Paul G Ince Honorary Consultant in Neuropathology

Academic Unit of Pathology

E Floor

School of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences

University of Sheffield

Beech Hill Road Tel: 0114 276 1342 Sheffield Fax: 0114 271 1711

S10 2RX e-mail: p.ince@sheffield.ac.uk

17. South Tees Hospitals NHS Trust

Dr David Scoones Consultant in Neuropathology

Department of Cellular Pathology James Cook University Hospital

Marton Road Tel: 01642 854388 Middlesbrough Fax: 01642 854384

TS4 3BW e-mail: david.scoones@stees.nhs.uk

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

18. The Corsellis Collection (West London Mental Health NHS Trust)

Dr Michael Maier Corsellis Collection Curator

Corsellis Collection Butler House West London Mental Health NHS Trust Uxbridge Road

Southall

Middlesex Tel: 020 8354 8886

UB1 3EU e-mail: <u>michael.maier@imperial.ac.uk</u>

Prof. Stephen Gentleman

Chair, Corsellis Scientific Advisory Group

Neuropathology Unit, Rm 11L07B Department of Medicine Imperial College London Charing Cross Campus St Dunstan's Road

London Tel: 0203 311 7680

W6 8RP e-mail: <u>Stephen.Gentleman@imperial.ac.uk</u>

19. University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation NHS Trust

Prof. Sebastian Brandner Honorary Consultant in Neuropathology

UCL Institute of Neurology Division of Neuropathology

Queen Square Tel: 020 7676 2188 London Fax: 020 7676 2188

WC1N 3BG e-mail: s.brandner@ion.ucl.ac.uk

20. University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust

Dr Martyn Carey Consultant in Neuropathology

Department of Cellular Pathology Level 1, Queen Elizabeth Hospital

Mindelsohn Way

Birmingham Tel: 0121 371 3326 B15 2WB Fax: 0121 371 3333

WC1N 3BG e-mail: Martyn.Carey@uhb.nhs.uk

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

21. University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust

Prof. James A R Nicoll Honorary Consultant in Neuropathology

Department of Neuropathology Level E South Academic and Laboratory Block Southampton General Hospital Tremona Road

Southampton Tel: 023 8079 5720

SO16 6YD e-mail: <u>J.Nicoll@soton.ac.uk</u>

22. The Walton Centre NHS Foundation Trust

Dr Daniel Crooks Consultant in Neuropathology

Neuropathology Department The Walton Centre NHS Foundation Trust Lower Lane Fazakerley

Liverpool Tel: 0151 529 5572

L9 7LJ e-mail: <u>daniel.crooks@thewaltoncentre.nhs.uk</u>

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

Scotland

23. NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde

Dr William Stewart Consultant in Neuropathology

Department of Neuropathology The Institute of Neurological Sciences

Southern General Hospital Tel: 0141 201 2047 Glasgow Fax: 0141 201 2999

G51 4TF e-mail: Willie.Stewart@gqc.scot.nhs.uk

24. NHS Lothian

Dr Colin Smith
Consultant in Neuropathology

Department of Pathology Alexander Donald Building Western General Hospital

Crewe Road

Edinburgh Tel: 0131 651 5301

EH4 2XU e-mail: col.smith@ed.ac.uk

Wales

25. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board

Dr G Alistair Lammie Consultant in Neuropathology

Department of Histopathology University Hospital Wales

Heath Park Tel: 029 2074 4273 Cardiff Fax: 029 2074 2701

CF14 4XN e-mail: <u>lammiega@cf.ac.uk</u>

26.Hull and East Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust

Dr. Robin Highley Consultant in Neuropathology

Department of Pathology, Hull Royal Infirmary

Anlaby Road Tel: 01482 607807 Hull Fax: 01482 607736

HU3 2JZ e-mail: Robin.Highley@hey.nhs.uk

Appendix B

SOP 1: Policy for Access to Tissue Archival Holdings of Participating Centres

Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71



Appendix C

SOP 2: Data Confidentiality Policy



Appendix D

SOP 3: Information Technology Policy



Appendix E

SOP 4: Data Extraction Policy



Appendix F:

SOP 5: Policy for the Disclosure of Clinically Significant Information



Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71

Date: 15 April 2015 - 32 -

Appendix G

The distribution of the number of post – mortem cases available for research at Participating Centres in the *BRAIN UK* network:

Participating Centre	Estimated Number of Cases
The Corsellis Collection (West London Mental Health NHS Trust)	8,500
University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust	7,000
Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust	6,800
NHS Lothian	6,000
Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust	6,000
NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde	5,500
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust	4,500
King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust	4,500
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust	4,400
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board	4,000
North Bristol NHS Trust	3,900
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust	1,400
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust	1,200
Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children NHS Foundation Trust	1,000
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust	1,000
The Walton Centre NHS Foundation Trust	1,000
South Tees Hospitals Foundation Trust	270
Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust	*
Barking, Havering and Redbridge Hospitals NHS Trust	*
Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust	*
Barts Health NHS Trust	**
Lancashire Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust	*
St George's Healthcare NHS Trust	*
Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust	**
University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust	*

Based upon current BRAIN UK 1 and BRAIN UK 2 databases and on questionnaires returned by Participating Centres December 2013.

Date: 15 April 2015

66,970

^{*} Currently unable to provide data.

^{**}Participating Centre has agreed to a 'supply and demand' relationship with BRAIN UK.

Appendix H

The distribution of the total number of cases available for research in the putative BRAIN UK 3 database. (Based on data derived from questionnaires returned by Participating Centres December 2013).

Participating Centre	Current Surgical Archive	Additional Annual Surgical Cases
University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust	73,100	1,700
North Bristol NHS Trust	48,000	1,200
Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children	40,000	500
NHS Foundation Trust	,	
NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde University College London Hospitals NHS	32,000	800
Foundation Trust	32,000	2,000
King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust	20,000	1,500
Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust	16,100	700
The Walton Centre NHS Foundation Trust	15,000	800
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust	14,400	800
St George's Healthcare NHS Trust	13,200	550
Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust	13,200	1,100
NHS Lothian	13,000	650
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board	12,000	400
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust	8,500	500
South Tees Hospitals Foundation Trust	5,250	175
Barts Health NHS Trust	4,000	200
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust	3,600 *	300 *
Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust	*	*
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust	*	*
Barking, Havering and Redbridge Hospitals		
NHS Trust	*	*
Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS	*	*
Foundation Trust	*	*
Lancashire Teaching Hospitals NHS	*	*
Foundation Trust		
University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust	*	*
The Corsellis Collection (West London Mental Health NHS Trust)	**	**
	363,350	13,875

Based upon questionnaires returned by Participating Centres December 2013.

^{*} Currently unable to provide data.

^{**}The Corsellis Collection does not maintain a diagnostic or surgical archive.

Appendix I

The following is a list of research projects applications received by BRAIN UK:

BRAIN UK Reference	Study Title	Status
10/001	PML pathogenesis	Withdrawn
10/002	White matter disorders in children: from magnetic resonance to basic defect	Approved
11/001	Role of neutrophils in the pathogenesis of NMO	Approved
11/002	Pilot study comparing microglial markers in different neurological diseases known to be associated with inflammation	Approved
11/003	Pilot study – Microglia profile in schizophrenia	Approved
11/004	Response of stem cells in the human brain to acute hypoxic/ischaemic injury	Approved
11/005	Fight Alpers'	Approved
11/006	Comparative analysis of neuropathology in Huntington's disease brains	Approved
11/007	How do ageing processes contribute to Alzheimer's disease?	Approved
11/008	ADAM17 in subarachnoid haemorrhage	Approved
12/001	Pilot study to identify mast cells and basophils in brain	Approved
12/002	Neuropathology of autoimmune/limbic encephalitis associated with antibodies against voltage-gated potassium channels	Approved
12/003	Neuropathological examination of neurons, glial cells, axons and molecular factors in mood and affective disorders	Approved
12/004	Evidence for stem cell neuroprotection in genetic ataxias	Approved
12/005	PML Pathogenesis	
12/006	The impact of mitochondrial DNA mutations on substantia nigra neurons	Withdrawn
12/007	Regulation of microglial proliferation and its contribution to chronic neurodegeneration	Request for additional information
12/008	Protein conformation changes in chronic traumatic encephalopathy and other tauopathies	Request for Protocol modification
12/009	Investigation into the impact of systemic inflammation due to infection on microglial phenotype and its contribution to Alzheimer's disease neuropathology	Approved
12/010	The brain in SUDEP: new insights from pathology	Approved
13/001	Are neurodegenerative diseases and gliomas inverse comorbidities?	Approved
13/002	Investigating inflammation of the normal appearing brain in patients with low-grade glioma	Approved
13/003	The role of c-Myc in choroid plexus tumours	Approved
13/004	Translation of novel findings for dentatorubropallidoluysian atrophy: from <i>Drosophila</i> to mice and human beings	Request for Protocol Modification
13/005	UK brain bank for autism and other developmental disorders	Approved
13/006	Characterizing microglia/macrophage polarization in paediatric brain injury	Approved
13/007	CAA in subarachnoid haemorrhage	Request for additional information
13/008	A post mortem study of progenitor cells following severe traumatic brain injury	Request for additional information
13/009	CAA in autonomic dysfunction (1)	Request for additional information
13/010	Pilot study of cholesterol, lipids and LDL in Alzheimer's disease	Approved Request for
13/011	DNA polymorphisms in mental illness (DPIM)	additional information
14/001	CAA in autonomic dysfunction (2)	Review

Ref: 14/SC/0098 UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71 Date: 15 April 2015

Appendix J

Sample BRAIN UK Study Acceptance Letter.



Acceptance Letter Template 040214 v1_0.pdf

Appendix K

BRAIN UK study application flowchart.



Application flowchart 040214 v1.0.pdf

Appendix L

BRAIN UK Terms and Conditions



Terms and Conditions 040214 v1_0.pdf

Appendix M

Systems Level Security Policy (SLSP)



Ref: 14/SC/0098

UK Brain Archive Information Network (BRAIN UK) Protocol v1.71